IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

RIVERSIDE COUNTY SHERIFF'S) Case No. S20635	0
DEPARTMENT,)	
) PETITIONER'S	S OPENING .
Plaintiff and Respondent) BRIEF	
VS.)	
v 3.) [Riverside Super	ior Court
JAN STIGLITZ,) No. RIC1000499	
JAN STIGLITZ,) Published Decision	
Defendant.) Fourth District C	
Defendant.) Appeal, Div. Two	
RIVERSIDE SHERIFF'S) E052729]	5, 140.
) E032729]	
ASSOCIATION,)	
Intervenor/Appellant.)	
mtervenor/Appenant.)	SUPREME COURT
	-) }	FILED
AND RELATED ACTIONS.)	
THE RELATION TO THE TAIL OF THE PARTY OF THE	_)	FEB 1 1 2013
	 	Frank A. McGuire Clerk
	DENING DDIEE	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
PETITIONER'S O	PPENING BRIEF	Deputy

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE.

This Court has limited review to the following issue:

"Does the hearing officer in an administrative appeal of the dismissal of a correctional officer employed by a county sheriff's department have the authority to grant a motion under *Pitchess v*. Superior Court (1974) 11 Cal.3d 531?¹

STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

Real Party in Interest, Kristy Drinkwater, was terminated from her position as a correctional deputy with the Department for falsifying her time

Because it is undisputed that the appeal process afforded to peace officers under the Peace Officers Bill of Rights (POBR - Government Code § 3300, et seq.) has been extended to the involved correctional officer by way of MOU, it is respectfully submitted that the issue be slightly modified to include peace officers so as to not unduly limit the impact of this decision.

records in order to obtain unearned compensation. Although correctional deputies are not normally entitled to the procedural protections of the Peace Officers Bill of Rights (POBR - Government Code § 3300, et seq.), the memorandum of understanding (MOU) between the parties extended POBR beyond sworn deputies to correctional deputies. As such, Drinkwater was entitled to an administrative appeal of her termination at an evidentiary hearing before a mutually selected, neutral hearing officer (Stiglitz) pursuant to Government Code § 3304(b). Asserting that her termination was disproportionate to other employees who had falsified time records, Drinkwater filed a so-called Pitchess motion with the hearing officer seeking access to disciplinary files of identified, but unrelated, deputies who might have been similarly charged.

After the hearing officer granted the *Pitchess* motion, the Department challenged that ruling by way of a petition for writ of mandamus in the superior court pursuant to *Code of Civil Procedure § 1094.5*. During the pendency of the writ proceeding, the Second District Court of Appeal issued its decision in *Brown v. Valverde*, (2010) 183 Cal.App. 4th 1531, declaring that *Pitchess* motions were statutorily limited to "court" proceedings and could not be heard by administrative hearing officers in DMV hearings.

When the superior court granted the Department's writ petition and ordered the hearing officer to deny the *Pitchess* motion, Drinkwater (and the Riverside Sheriff's Association as Intervenor) filed their appeal. After briefing, the Court of Appeal invited oral argument and entertained an extraordinary hour long debate of the novel issues presented by this case.

ARGUMENT

1. THE "AMBIGUITY" SEEMINGLY FOUND WITHIN THE PITCHESS PROCESS WAS CORRECTLY RESOLVED IN BROWN v. VALVERDE.

As the lower court observed, the dilemma facing the District Courts of Appeal is the glaring fact that "there is an ambiguity" in the statutory scheme governing the exclusive *Pitchess* process controlling access to confidential peace officer personnel files. [Slip Op., p. 28].

In response to this Court's landmark decision in *Pitchess v. Superior Court* (1974) 11 Cal.3d 531, the Legislature enacted *Penal Code §§ 832.7*, et seq. and Evidence Code §§ 1043 and 1045 to codify the privileges and procedures which govern discovery of peace officer personnel files and which have since become known as so-called *Pitchess* motions. City of Santa Cruz v. Municipal Court (1989) 49 Cal.3d 74, 81.

This statutory scheme begins with a declaration in Penal Code § 832.7 that "peace officer or custodial officer personnel records. . . are confidential and shall not be disclosed in any criminal proceeding except by discovery pursuant to Sections 1043 and 1046 of the Evidence Code." (emphasis added). Turning then to Evidence Code § 1043(a), it goes on in pertinent part to provide that such discovery may only be achieved by filing "a written motion with the appropriate court or administrative body" and pursuant to 1043(b)(1), such motion shall include "the identification of . . . the peace or custodial officer whose records are sought."

The "ambiguity" identified by the Court of Appeal arises when the process shifts to Evidence Code § 1045 which sets forth the procedure for determining relevance of the confidential records sought in a Pitchess motion. After the one and only reference to "administrative body" in the entire Pitchess statutory scheme found in 1043(a), the entire review process falls exclusively and expressly with "the court". In fact, there are no less than six aspects of the Pitchess process which are exclusively reserved for "the court" and with no provision for these tasks to be handled by an "administrative body":

• Evidence Code § 1045(b) - "the court shall examine the information in chambers in conformity with section 915."

- Evidence Code § 915 refers exclusively to "the court" and "the judge" conducting in camera inspections.
- the issue in litigation concerns the policies or pattern of the employing agency, the court shall consider whether the information sought may be obtained from other records maintained by the employing agency in the regular course of agency business which would not necessitate the disclosure of individual personnel records."
- Evidence Code § 1045(d) only "the court" may issue protective orders.
- Evidence Code § 1045(e) "the court" shall limit disclosure.

 It also expressly limits the use of any records to "a court

 proceeding."

After undertaking an exhaustive analysis of statutory construction in Brown v. Valverde (2010) 183 Cal.App. 4th 1531, the First District Court of Appeal appropriately held that the Pitchess process was not applicable to

///

administrative hearings at the Department of Motor Vehicles (DMV) for essentially two reasons:

- The statutory scheme governing DMV hearings did not allow for or encompass the availability of *Pitchess* motions on officers testifying in such proceedings. *Ibid.*, p. 1549.
- The singular reference to "administrative body" in section 1043(a) could not be read to authorize non-judicial hearing officers to undertake the tasks legislatively limited exclusively to the courts within the *Pitchess* process. *Ibid.*, p. 1549-58.

While the Fourth District in the instant case could have avoided any conflict between the lower courts by simply reaching the same conclusion and precluding non-judicial hearing officers from hearing *Pitchess* motions in disciplinary appeals under *Government Code § 3304(b)* within the scope of POBR, it regrettably took a somewhat convoluted and often confusing approach which now brings this issue before this Court.

2. THERE IS NO AUTHORITY TO EXTEND PITCHESS TO DISCIPLINARY APPEALS UNDER POBR.

Acknowledging the *Brown* court's conclusion that the statutory scheme governing DMV hearings did not allow for *Pitchess* motions, the Fourth District seemingly ignored the similar absence of statutory authority

Covernment Code § 3304(b) in the instant case. [Slip. Op., p. 21-22]. Yet, like the absence of any statutory authority for entertaining *Pitchess* in DMV hearings, there is not a single case or statute which authorizes or even contemplates *Pitchess* motions in the type of disciplinary appeal at issue under *Government Code* § 3304(b). Instead of addressing this, the court simply avoided this threshold issue and instead jumped to a lengthy discussion of relevance and due process in disciplinary hearings.

Quite frankly, the Department does not disagree with the relevance of a disparate discipline defense in any administrative appeal. However, the existence of such a defense does not and cannot override the statutory privileges attached to peace officer personnel files. *Penal Code § 832.5 et seq.* Similarly acknowledging that the credibility of any officer testifying in a DMV hearing would always be "relevant", the court in *Brown* correctly observed that using relevance as the determining factor for allowing *Pitchess* motions in any proceeding would open the floodgates to virtually all proceedings in which officers might testify and raise a "staggering potential for discovery abuse." 183 Cal.App. 4th at 1558.

While the officer testifying at a DMV hearing would at least be a percipient witness in the underlying incident, permitting *Pitchess* motions

seeking disciplinary files of completely uninvolved deputies under the guise of a defense of disparate treatment epitomizes the sort of "fishing expedition" originally condemned by this Court in *Pitchess*, 11 Cal. 3d at 538. As a further measure of safeguarding against expanding *Pitchess* discovery, the Legislature added *Evidence Code § 1047* in 1985 which expressly prohibits *Pitchess* discovery on officers who were not present or directly involved in the incident giving rise to the discovery request for confidential peace officer personnel files.

In fact, in the instant matter, section 1047 alone should end the inquiry. Under the Fourth District's current rationale that disparate treatment is a relevant defense in these disciplinary appeals, the files sought by such *Pitchess* motions would by definition belong to deputies who had nothing at all to do with the current matter. As such, a deputy who accepted discipline and thereafter hopes to move forward with his/her career will now forever have the potential of prior discipline resurfacing because some completely uninvolved officer can now file a *Pitchess* motion in their own unrelated administrative appeal. This is precisely the sort of risk the Legislature also sought to avoid in section 1045(d) which provides that the court should "protect the officer or agency from unnecessary annoyance, embarrassment or oppression."

During oral argument on appeal², the Fourth District agreed that any *Pitchess* motion must include the identities of the officer(s) whose personnel records are sought. [RT:45-46] Cf. *Evidence Code § 1043(b)(1)*. As further discussed during oral argument (but inexplicably ignored in the Slip Opinion), Drinkwater in fact knew the names of the deputies whose files she sought via her *Pitchess* motion. *Ibid.* Since this Court has already made it clear that information released under *Pitchess* will generally be limited to names and addresses of prior complainants [*Santa Cruz, supra, 48 Cal. 3d at 81-94*], the release of the actual discipline received by these already identified and uninvolved deputies would not generally be subject to release even if the *Pitchess* process was somehow extended to such hearings.

Consistent with the Legislature's desire to limit *Pitchess* discovery,

Evidence Code § 1045(c) further expressly provides:

In determining relevance where the issue in litigation concerns the policies or patterns of conduct of the employing agency (e.g. prior discipline of other deputies), the court shall

A transcript of the tape recorded oral argument has been provided under separate cover with a request for judicial notice. All references will be cited as RT to Reporter's Transcript.

consider whether the information sought may be obtained from other records. . . ".

In other words, since a deputy seeking personnel files of completely unrelated deputies would in all cases be required to know the identities of such deputies, the deputy attempting to explore a defense of disparate treatment could simply ask the unrelated deput(ies) if they had any objection to either the release of their files or perhaps even testifying in the pending disciplinary appeal. This would not only avoid the need for *Pitchess* discovery in such disciplinary appeals, but it would more importantly protect unrelated deputies from the unnecessary annoyance, embarrassment or oppression prohibited by 1045(d).

Regardless of the validity or relevance of any defense, neither POBR nor due process can create a new discovery process capable of superseding the very specific *Pitchess* discovery process which is expressly regulated by statute. *Evidence Code § 1043, et. seq.* It has long been established that no other discovery process can take precedence over the statutory scheme controlling the discovery of confidential peace officer personnel files. *People v. Superior Court (Gremminger) (1997) 58 Cal.App.4th 397, 403.*

While the Fourth District relied on the relevance of evidence of disparate treatment under the umbrella of "due process" or 3304(b), there

are undoubtedly countless other types of privileged evidence which would be valuable to a defendant or grievant. However, if relevance was the only criteria for accessing statutorily privileged material, virtually all privileges (e.g. Fifth Amendment, Attorney-client, Spousal, Physician-patient, etc.) would be rendered meaningless. Fortunately, this is not the case and this Court and the Legislature have established a very comprehensive statutory scheme which expressly limits the *Pitchess* process to the courts rather than non-judicial officers conducting disciplinary appeals under POBR.

3. A SINGULAR REFERENCE TO "ADMINISTRATIVE BODY" CANNOT BE VIEWED TO THE EXCLUSION OF SIX MANDATES TO THE COURT.

Interestingly, the *Brown* court and the Fourth District both acknowledged that there was little or no legislative history offering any insight into the singular inclusion of "administrative body" in *Evidence Code § 1043(a)* within an entire statutory scheme which otherwise mandates that all aspects of *Pitchess* discovery are reserved exclusively to "the court". 183 Cal.App.4th at 1554-55; [Slip Op., p. 44]. In the absence of clear legislative intent, the plain meaning of the language of the statute will be applied unless to do so would lead to an absurd result. *California School Employees Assn. v. Governing Board* (1994) 8 Cal.4th

333, 340. Additionally, the consequences which will flow from a particular interpretation must be carefully considered. *Dyna-Med., Inc. v. Fair Employment & Housing Com.* (1987) 43 Cal.3d 1379, 1387.

The legislative purpose of the entire *Pitchess* statutory scheme was to reign in *Pitchess* motions. *City of Santa Cruz, supra,* 49 Cal.3d at 96. With this in mind, the *Brown* court correctly recognized that interpreting the isolated inclusion of "administrative body" to expand *Pitchess* motions to virtually every sort of administrative hearing in which a peace officer might testify under the guise of relevance of credibility would drastically increase rather than reign in *Pitchess* motions. 183 Cal.App.4th at1554.

Latching onto the *Brown* court's comment that "there may be administrative proceedings in which *Pitchess* discovery is permitted" (*Id.*, p. 1551), the Fourth District inexplicably concluded that disciplinary appeals by peace officers must have been the Legislature's intent by the singular reference to "administrative body". Slip Op., p. 20-21. This, notwithstanding a complete lack of legislative comment to that effect or even a single case making such a broad expansion.

This Court has long held that a single reference to one subject (e.g. "administrative body") cannot be considered in isolation, but instead must be harmonized within the statutory framework as a whole. *People v. Drake*

(1977) 19 Cal.3d 749, 755. In fact, the omission of a reference from similar statutes concerning a related subject is significant to show that a different intention existed. *Ibid.* Within the entire statutory scheme encompassing the *Pitchess* process, "administrative body" is omitted from virtually every procedural aspect of the process which is clearly and exclusively reserved for the courts.

Certainly, if the Legislature had intended for *Pitchess* motions to be fully heard by non-judicial hearing officers, it would have permeated the phrase "administrative body" throughout all statutory aspects of the process. However, it intentionally and expressly limited all procedural aspects of the *Pitchess* process to "the courts". Such a legislative intent could seemingly not be much more clear.

Once again mysteriously absent from the Slip Opinion, the

Department offered a reasonable and rational interpretation for the

Legislature's inclusion of "administrative body" in section 1043 during oral
argument which would have reconciled all other references to the court
exclusively handling all aspects of the *Pitchess* process. [RT:36-37].

Outside the normal context of "courts" there are administrative proceedings
which are in fact presided over by judicial officers such as administrative
law judges, workers' compensation appeal board judges and even state Bar

proceedings. Given the absence of legislative comment, such a reasonable, practical and common sense interpretation [Halbert's Lumber, Inc. v. Lucky Stores, Inc. (1992) 6 Cal.App.4th 1233, 1239] would logically account for the singular reference to "administrative body" while still preserving the overwhelming intent of the Legislature to insure that all critical procedural aspects of the Pitchess process remain exclusively within the courts.

However, because the Fourth District apparently overlooked this explanation, it encountered many other problems in its effort to expand the *Pitchess* process to peace officer disciplinary appeals.

A. <u>Disciplinary Hearing Officers Are Not Judicial Officers.</u>

As noted above, Evidence Code § 1045(b) expressly mandates that "the court shall examine the information in chambers in conformity with Section 915". Section 915 expressly limits in camera determinations of privilege to judges and the court. (Law Revision Com., Deering's Ann. Evid. Code (2004 ed.) foll. § 914, p. 90).

Yet, like the DMV hearing officers in *Brown*, hearing officers presiding over disciplinary hearings under *Government Code § 3304(b)* are never judges and, in many cases, may not even be attorneys. Allowing such non-judicial officers to hear *Pitchess* motions would not only render six statutory references to "the court" meaningless, but even the *Brown* court

recognized there would be no guarantee that these hearing officers would have the skills necessary to decide sensitive evidentiary issues such as privilege, good cause and relevance. 183 Cal.App.4th at 1558.

Further increasing the risk of violating the statutorily protected privacy rights of uninvolved deputies and reinforcing the need to preclude *Pitchess* motions in these disciplinary appeals, the operative MOU in the instant case (and in most disciplinary appeal processes) provides that the technical rules of evidence do not apply in such hearings. As the *Brown* court noted, "putting *Pitchess* motions in the hands of anyone less than fully qualified would undermine one of the primary purposes of the *Pitchess* procedures - protecting the confidentiality and privacy of officers." *Ibid.*, citing *Alford v. Superior Court* (2003) 29 Cal.4th 1033, 1039.

Moreover, disciplinary hearing officers are the triers of fact in these proceedings. If they were somehow permitted to examine the confidential personnel files of uninvolved officers who might later be called as witnesses on the issue of disparate treatment, the hearing officer would be privy to and inescapably exposed to highly sensitive, but irrelevant information about the uninvolved officer. For example, while the uninvolved officer may have been the subject of similar discipline for conduct similar to the officer seeking discovery, he/she may also have been

disciplined for other sensitive issues such as sexual misconduct, alcohol/drug use or domestic problems. While the hearing officer might not deem these relevant to the disparate treatment defense, it would be virtually impossible for the untrained trier of fact to avoid the proverbial elephant in the room. This is precisely why the *Pitchess* process expressly and necessarily shields the trier of fact by limiting the *in camera* inspection of confidential peace officer files exclusively to the courts.

B. <u>Disciplinary Hearing Officers Are Powerless to Enforce</u> Protective Orders.

Evidence Code § 1045(d) and (e) require "the court" to issue protective orders to strictly limit the use of confidential peace officer personnel information. While courts retain the power to enforce such protective orders (Code of Civil Procedure § 128), disciplinary hearing officers have no such power. Thus, even if the Pitchess process was somehow extended to peace officer disciplinary hearings, the officer whose files were reviewed and potentially disclosed would have no way to prevent that disclosure of such sensitive information in any other proceeding.

///

///

C. There is No Procedural Vehicle For Hearing Officers To Refer Pitchess Motions to a Court.

Determined to somehow allow non-judicial officers to entertain *Pitchess* motions in disciplinary hearings, the Fourth District continually wrestled with, but never resolved, the insurmountable problem of how to allow a non-judicial hearing officer to entertain a *Pitchess* motion, but still adhere to the legislative mandate that only a court can conduct the *in camera* review. [RT9-12]. While it was suggested that the hearing officer might be able to consider the motion to make a determination of "good cause" under 1043(b)(3) and then refer it to a court for the *in camera* review, it was also agreed that there is simply no procedural vehicle by which to then submit the matter to the court. [RT47] And, unless this Court or the Legislature are willing to create such a procedural vehicle, there is simply no way for a *Pitchess* motion to come before a court in a peace officer's disciplinary proceeding.

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