Case No. S206350

# SUPREME COURT FILED

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

MAR 1 3 2013

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

RIVERSIDE COUNTY SHERIFF'S DEPARTMENT,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

Deputy

v.

JAN STIGLITZ, *Defendant*.

RIVERSIDE SHERIFFS' ASSOCIATION, *Intervenor/Appellant*.

#### AND RELATED ACTIONS.

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal
Fourth Appellate District, Division Two
Case No. E052729
On Appeal from the Superior Court of the County of Riverside,
The Honorable Mac R. Fisher, Judge Presiding.
Case No. RIC10004998

### ANSWERING BRIEF ON THE MERITS OF INTERVENOR/APPELLANT RIVERSIDE SHERIFFS' ASSOCIATION

HAYES & CUNNINGHAM
DENNIS J. HAYES
No. 123576

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

As in any case involving statutory interpretation, the court's first step is to scrutinize the actual words of the statute, giving them a plain and commonsense meaning. *Garcia v. McCutchen* (1997)16 Cal.4th 469, 476; *People v. Murphy* (2001) 25 Cal.4th 136, 142. In interpreting that language, the court strives to give effect and significance to every word and phrase. *Copley Press, Inc. v. Superior Court* (2006) 39 Cal.4th 1272, 1285. The well-established canons of statutory construction preclude a construction that renders a part of a statute meaningless or inoperative. (*Dyna-Med, Inc. v. Fair Employment & Housing Com.* (1987) 43 Cal.3d 1379, 1386-1387.)

As stated by the court below, "[i]t is a settled axiom of statutory construction that significance should be attributed to every word and phrase of a statute, and a construction making some words surplusage should be avoided." *Riverside County Sheriffs' Dept. v. Stiglitz, supra*, 209 Cal. App. 4th at 904, citing *People v. Woodhead* (1987) 43 Cal.3d 1002, 1010.

In this case, the court of appeal's interpretation of Government Code § 3304(b) is consistent with Evidence Code § 1043(a) which provides in relevant part "In any case in which discovery or disclosure is sought of peace or custodial officer personnel records or records maintained pursuant to Section 832.5 of the Penal Code or information from those records, the party seeking the discovery or disclosure shall file a written motion with the appropriate court or administrative body upon written notice to the governmental agency which has custody and control of the records." (Evidence Code § 1043(a); emphasis added.)

If the Legislature had intended for only sworn Judicial Officers to have authority to rule on an Evidence Code § 1043 motion, then the Legislature would not have stated that the motion for discovery of peace officer records could be submitted to either the appropriate Court or administrative body.

The Department argues that there is not a single "statute which authorized or contemplates *Pitchess* motion in the type of disciplinary hearing under Government Code § 3304(b)." (Opn. Brf. P. 7.) This argument is obviously made in error as Evidence Code § 1043(a) specifically makes reference to such motions being made before an "administrative body."

The Department seeks to have this court rewrite Evidence Code § 1043(a) to delete the provision that allows a motion to be filed with an "administrative body" because it is only mentioned once whereas the court's handling of the motion is mentioned six times. There is no rule of statutory construction that authorizes the court to delete language merely because the language is only used once. Having given the ability of a party to make a discovery motion to an administrative body, there is no need to then "permeate" the statutory scheme with repeated, but unnecessary, references to that same administrative body.

///

The ambiguity found by the court of appeals would not be present if the Legislature had redundantly stated "the appropriate court or administrative body" when it wrote the procedures to follow upon the filing of such a motion. The only way to harmonize the statutory language in a manner that gives effect and significance to every word and phrase in the statutory scheme, and which does not render meaningless the language in Evidence Code § 1043(b) that a motion may filed with an "administrative body," is to interpret the statutory scheme to mean that the procedures set forth for the "court" to follow upon the filing of a discovery motion are the procedures that the administrative body must follow as well. The Department does not address the fact that it seeks to have the court render meaningless or inoperative the language authorizing a motion to be made to an "administrative body."

The Department cites *People v. Drake* (1977) 19 Cal.3d 749, 755 for the proposition that a single reference to one subject in legislation cannot be considered in isolation, but instead, must be harmonized with the statutory framework as a whole. (Opn. Brf. pp. 12-13) *Drake* involved an earlier version of Penal Code § 1238(a)(6), which authorized an appeal by the People in a criminal case only from " '[a]n order modifying the verdict or finding by reducing the degree of the offense or the punishment imposed." (*Drake, supra*, 19 Cal. 3d at p. 754.) The question for the *Drake* court was whether the law provides for an appeal when the trial court modifies the verdict to the lesser included offense.

The *Drake* court concluded that "the failure to provide in section 1238[(a)(6)] for appeals from orders modifying findings to lesser included offenses, while maintaining a distinct provision in section 1181, subdivision 6, for the authority to issue those orders, raises a strong inference that the Legislature did not intend the orders to be appealable by the People." (*Id.* at

755.) Thus, the court concluded there is no statutory authorization for an appeal by the People from an order under section 1181, subdivision 6, which modifies a verdict or finding to that of a lesser included offense.

A subsequent amendment to section 1238(a)(6), added the words "or modifying the offense to a lesser offense." Therefore, the 1978 amendment overruled *Drake*. *People v. Statum* (2002) 28 Cal. 4th 682, 691.

Drake did not discuss nor make any reference to a rule of construction regarding a single reference in legislation, regarding statutory language in "isolation," or make a finding that the court is empowered to rewrite a statute so all parts harmonize, as claimed by the Department. Instead, the court relied on the rule of statutory construction that "[w]here a statute, with reference to one subject contains a given provision, the omission of such provision from a similar statute concerning a related subject . . . is significant to show that a different intention existed." People v. Drake (1977) 19 Cal. 3d 749, 755, citing, People v. Valentine (1946) 28 Cal.2d 121, 142. Here, the Department is not urging the court to find Legislative intent where statutory language does not exist, but instead, the Department is urging this court to delete statutory language that does exist in order to find a contrary intent. Drake neither stands for nor supports the proposition cited by the Department.

2. There Has Never Been Any Confusion, Concerns,
Problems or Disputes Over The Statutory Scheme
Allowing Hearing Officers To Hear Evidence Code
§ 1043 Motions.

Significantly, the Department did not place into the record any evidence that the language at issue has caused any confusion, concerns, problems or disputes in the past. At the trial court level in the instant matter, RSA and Drinkwater submitted substantial, undisputed evidence that since 1993

numerous motions had been submitted to hearing officers in disciplinary appeal hearings under Article XII of the MOU seeking peace officer records, all without challenge by the Department to the hearing officer's jurisdiction to rule. In particular, Dennis Hayes (RSA's General Counsel) testified that from the time that he became counsel for RSA in 1993 through the present, numerous Evidence Code § 1043 motions had been brought, all without challenge by the Department to the arbitrator's jurisdiction to rule. (AA 1435.) Likewise, RSA President Pat McNamara testified that from the time that he became President of RSA in 1998 through the present, numerous Evidence Code § 1043 motions had been brought, all without challenge by the Department to the arbitrator's jurisdiction to rule. (AA 1317-1318.) Attorney Michael P. Stone testified that his firm handled the vast majority of Article XII administrative disciplinary appeal hearings from 1996 through the present. (AA 1528.) In connection with the Department's Petition in the instant matter, Mr. Stone instituted a limited audit of his files which revealed that from 2002 through the present, numerous Evidence Code § 1043 motions had been brought, all without challenge by the Department to the arbitrator's jurisdiction to rule. (AA 1528-1529.) In support of this claim, Mr. Stone attached redacted records evidencing Evidence Code § 1043 motions brought without challenge to the arbitrator's authority to rule on eight separate occasions. (AA 1533-1720.) The Department offered no evidence of its own to rebut this abundance of evidence.

The Department uses the hackneyed phraseology of "floodgates" of litigation, "discovery abuses, and "fishing expeditions" when arguing against hearing officers deciding Evidence Code § 1043 discovery motions; but if these concerns had substance, we would have seen some evidence from the parties' long history of allowing hearing officers to hear these motions.

Similarly, there is no evidence that in the history of the parties any of the participants in any Government Code § 3304(b) hearing (Department representative, RSA representative and mutually selected hearing officer) have disclosed any confidential personnel records. RSA represents the interests of its members; and as the exclusive bargaining representative, has a duty to maintain confidential records of its members of which it has many. The mutually agreed upon hearing officers, such as Stiglitz, are attorneys, and therefore, are aware of their obligation to maintain peace officer records confidential that come into their possession by virtue of their employment as hearing officers. Because these proceedings are private hearings not open to the public, the production of such records does not even constitute a disclosure. If any of the problems raised in the Department's brief were real, the Department would have submitted evidence to the trial court in support of this claim. The lack of any such evidence speaks volumes.

In reality, the Department's concern over an Evidence Code § 1043 motion before a hearing officer did not arise from the problem free procedures the parties have followed for the last twenty (20) years, but instead, arose from an opportunistic, albeit skewed, interpretation of the holding in *Brown*. The Department's concern is truly a solution in search of a problem.

# 3. HEARING OFFICERS ROUTINELY HAVE POSSESSION OF CONFIDENTIAL PEACE OFFICER RECORDS

Hearing Officers have possession of confidential peace officer records with every case over which they preside. As the County admits, the employing agency presents to the hearing officer all of the evidence upon which it relied in making the determination to discipline or discharge a peace officer. In this case, the County presented to the hearing officer Drinkwater's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> http://members.calbar.ca.gov/fal/Member/Detail/103815

confidential personnel records to establish that she was terminated with just cause. It is illogical and contradictory to argue that hearing officers can be trusted to have within their possession records of the peace officer appealing discipline but not the records of those not appealing.

4. THE REFERENCE IN PENAL CODE SECTION 832.7,

SUBDIVISION (A) TO A "CIVIL PROCEEDING" INCLUDES AN

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING WHICH ADJUDICATES THE

PROPRIETY OF DISCIPLINARY ACTION.

The history of the post-*Pitchess* legislation does not demonstrate that the legislature intended to disallow Evidence Code § 1043 motions in administrative proceedings. In 1978, the California Legislature codified the privileges and discovery procedures comprising so-called "*Pitchess* motions" by enacting Penal Code sections 832.7 and 832.8 and Evidence Code sections 1043 through 1045. *City of San Jose v. Superior Court* (1993) 5 Cal.4th 47, 50-51. The report by the Senate Committee on the Judiciary indicates that the main purpose of the 1978 legislation (Sen. Bill No. 1436) was to curtail the practice of record shredding and discovery abuses which allegedly occurred in the wake of the California Supreme Court's decision in *Pitchess v. Superior Court* (1974) 11 Cal.3d 531. *San Francisco Police Officers' Ass'n v. Superior Court*, 202 Cal.App.3d 183, 189 (1988).

Penal Code section 832.7, subdivision (a), provides in pertinent part:

"Peace officer or custodial officer personnel records and records maintained by any state or local agency pursuant to Section 832.5 [relating to citizen complaints], or information obtained from these records, are confidential and shall not be disclosed in any

///

///

criminal or <u>civil proceeding</u> except by discovery pursuant to Sections 1043 and 1046 of the Evidence Code."

Penal Code section 832.7, subdivision (a) [emphasis added].

A civil proceeding includes within its meaning an administrative disciplinary proceeding. *County of Los Angeles v. Civil Service Com.*, 39 Cal.App.4th 620, 631-632 (1995). In that case, the County of Los Angeles argued that an administrative disciplinary proceeding is not a "civil suit" within the meaning of Penal Code section 1016.3, which provides that "There are six kinds of pleas to an indictment or an information, or to a complaint charging a misdemeanor or infraction". (Penal Code § 1016). One such plea, a *nolo contendere* plea, is authorized by Penal Code § 1016.3, which provides, in pertinent part, as follows:

In cases other than those punishable as felonies, the plea and any admissions required by the court during any inquiry it makes as to the voluntariness of, and factual basis for, the plea may not be used against the defendant as an admission in any <u>civil suit</u> based upon or growing out of the act upon which the criminal prosecution is based.

Penal Code § 1016.3 [emphasis added].

In *County of Los Angeles*, the court equated a civil action to an administrative procedure which adjudicates the propriety of a disciplinary action. *County of Los Angeles v. Civil Service Commission of Los Angeles County*, *supra*, 39 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> at 631-632. On that basis, the court concluded that the *nolo contender* plea may not be used against the defendant as an admission in any administrative procedure which adjudicates the propriety of a disciplinary action. *Id*.

Thus, the term "civil suit" when used in a statute was considered to include an administrative procedure which adjudicates the propriety of a

disciplinary action. Similarly, the reference to a "civil proceeding" in Penal Code section 832.7, subdivision (a), should be construed to include an administrative procedure which adjudicates the propriety of a disciplinary action.

There is nothing in the Legislative history that allows the court to draw the conclusion that the "administrative body" referenced in Section 1043 was not to encompass Government Code § 3304(b) hearings, but there is authority to support the finding that the reference to a "civil proceeding" in Penal Code section 832.7, subdivision (a), includes administrative procedure which adjudicates the propriety of a disciplinary action. *County of Los Angeles v. Civil Service Commission of Los Angeles County, supra*, 39 Cal. App. 4<sup>th</sup> at 631-632.

Since a reference to a civil proceeding has also been construed to include an administrative procedure which adjudicates the propriety of a disciplinary action, there is more than one reference to the application of an Evidence Code § 1043 motion made before an administrative body.

5. THE EVIDENTIARY HEARING BEFORE A MUTUALLY SELECTED

ARBITRATOR WHO SERVES AS HEARING OFFICER IS AN

ADMINISTRATIVE BODY WITHIN THE MEANING OF THE

STATUTE.

Code of Civil Procedure § 1094.5(a) provides that "[w]here the writ is issued for the purpose of inquiring into the validity of any final administrative order or decision made as the result of a proceeding in which by law a hearing is required to be given, evidence is required to be taken, and discretion in the determination of facts is vested in the inferior tribunal, corporation, board, or officer, the case shall be heard by the court sitting without a jury." Code of Civil Procedure § 1094.5(a).

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